1992

# West Valley City v. Dennis L. Streeter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a judgment and conviction for Cruelty to Animals, in violation of West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8), a Class B Misdemeanor. This Court obtains jurisdiction pursuant to §78-2a-3(d) Utah Code Annotated (1992 as amended).

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal of right from final judgment of conviction for the offense of cruelty to animals entered in the Third Judicial Circuit Court in and for Salt Lake County, West Valley City Department, the Honorable William A. Thorne, Jr., presiding.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Standard of Review:

The issues presented for review pertain to whether the court erred in denying defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Reconsideration because RWVCO 23-5-104(8) is unconstitutional under numerous provisions of the Utah State and United States Constitutions. The standard of review for each of the issues on

review is the clear error standard as to the findings of fact of the court and the correction of error standard as to the court's legal conclusions. State v. Steward, 806 P.2d 213, 215 (Ut.App.Ct. 1991). The trial court's conclusions of law are accorded no deference and are reviewed for correctness. Rimensburger v. Rimensburger, 190 U.A.R. 48 (Ut.App.Ct. 1992).

Issues on Review:

1. Is Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(a) unconstitutional pursuant to Article XI, Section 5 of the Utah State Constitution?

2. Is Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(a) unconstitutional pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution, as being vague and overbroad?

3. Is Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(a) preempted by Title 7, Section 2156(d) of the United States Code, and an unconstitutional interference with interstate commerce and of the right to travel?

4. Is Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(a) violative of Section 1, Article I of the Utah Constitution and therefore void?

RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND ORDINANCES

Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(1985):

CRUELTY ANIMALS PROHIBITED.

(8) Animals for fighting:

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person or corporation to raise, keep or use any animal, fowl or bird for the purposes of fighting or baiting; and for any person to be a party to or be present as a spectator at any such fighting or baiting of any animal or fowl; and for any person, firm or corporation to knowingly rent any building, shed, room, yard, ground or premises for any such purposes as aforesaid, or to knowingly suffer or permit the use of his buildings, sheds, rooms, yards, grounds or premises for the purposes aforesaid.

(b) Law Enforcement Officers or Office of Animal Control officials may enter any building or place where there is an exhibition of the fighting or baiting of a live animal, or where preparations are being made for such an exhibition, and the Law Enforcement Officers may arrest persons there present and take possession of all animals engaged in fighting, or there found for the purposes of fighting, along with all implements or applications used in such exhibition. This provision shall not be interpreted to authorize a search or arrest without a warrant when such is required.

Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-2-102 (1985):

POWERS OF ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICIALS.

(2) The Animal Control Director, his deputies, assistants and Animal Control Officers are hereby authorized and empowered to apprehend and take with them and impound any animal found in violation of this ordinance including, but not limited to unlicensed dogs.

Utah Code Annotated §10-8-84:

Ordinances, Rules and Regulations - Passage-Penalties

They may pass all ordinances and rules, and make all regulations, not repugnant to law, necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter, and as are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health, and promote the prosperity, improve the morals, peace and good order, comfort, and convenience of the city and its inhabitants, and for the protection of property in the city; and may enforce obedience to the

ordinance with fines or penalties as they may deem proper, but the punishment of any offense shall be by fine not to exceed the maximum Class B Misdemeanor fine under Section 76-3-3-1 or by imprisonment not to exceed six months, or by both the fine and imprisonment.

Title 7 U.S.C. Section 2156, (1990):

ANIMAL FIGHTING VENTURE PROHIBITION

(a) Sponsoring or exhibiting animal in any fighting venture

It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly sponsor or exhibit an animal in any animal fighting venture to which any animal was moved in interstate or foreign commerce.

(b) Buying, selling, delivering, or transporting animals for participation in animal fighting venture

It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly sell, buy, transport, or deliver to another person or receive from another person for purposes of transportation, in interstate or foreign commerce, any dog or other animal for purposes of having the dog or other animal participate in an animal fighting venture.

(c) Use of Postal Service or other interstate instrumentality for promoting or furthering animal fighting venture

It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly use the mail service of the United States Postal Service or any interstate instrumentality for purposes of promoting or in any other manner furthering an animal fighting venture except as performed outside the limits of the States of the United States.

(d) Violation of State law

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a), (b), or (c) of the section the activities prohibited by such subsections shall be unlawful with the respect to fighting ventures involving live birds only if the fight is to take place in a State where it would be in violation of laws thereof.

United States Constitution, Article I, Section 14:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they

reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Utah State Constitution, Article I, Section 1:

All men have the inherent and inalienable right to enjoy and defend their lives and liberties, to acquire, possess and protect property; to worship according to the dictates of their consciences; to assemble peaceably, protest against wrongs, and petition for redress of grievances; to communicate freely their thoughts and opinions, being responsible for the abuse of that right.

Utah State Constitution, Article I, Section 7:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Utah State Constitution, Article XI, Section 5: (Please see Addendum for text)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arose as the result of a DUI stop on May 27, 1990 (R-1. 37). Defendant was detained by West Valley City police authorities as he was returning from Arizona (R-1. 37) where defendant had engaged birds in fighting ventures where the sport of cockfighting is legal (R-1. 37). On May 30th, Dennis Streeter was charged with six counts of cruelty to animals, in violation of West Valley City Revised Ordinance 23-5-104, under Case No. 901001586 (R-1. 37).<sup>1</sup> The defendant was charged with

---

<sup>1</sup> Case No. 901001586MC and Case No. 901001677 were consolidated by the Court of Appeals under Case No. 92-0349CA. Because the trial court's record is numbered individually under

raising, keeping or using poultry for the purpose of fighting. (Id.) The defendant was returning from having fought the birds in Arizona, where such fighting is legal. (Id.)

Subsequently, on May 31, 1992, the defendant was charged with one additional charge of cruelty to animals under a second information in Case No. 901001677MC (R-2. 1). In addition, the defendant was charged with the following violations under that same information:

(1) Doing business without a license in violation of West Valley City Ordinance 17-1-102; (Id.)

(2) Improper Uses for R-1-8 zone for operating a poultry business in violation of Revised West Valley City Ordinance 7-9-103; (Id.)

(3) Improper uses for R-1-8 zone for keeping poultry in non-zoned area in violation of Revised West Valley Ordinance 7-9-102; (Id.)

(4) Too many dogs in violation of West Valley City Ordinance 23-1-101; (Id.)

(5) Too many dogs in violation of West Valley City Ordinance 23-1-101; (Id.)

---

each case number, all references to the record shall be as follows: R-1 shall pertain to the record in Case No. 901001586 and all references to R-2 shall pertain to Case No. 901001677.

(6) Failure to Obtain Rabies Vaccination in violation of West Valley City Ordinance 23-4-102; (Id.)

(7) Accumulations of Solid Waste and Littering in Violation of West Valley City Ordinance 24-1-11; (Id.)

(8) Improper Height for Fences in violation of West Valley City Ordinance 7-2-119 (R-2.). (Id.)

The defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss the cruelty to animals charges brought under both Case Nos. 9010011677 and 901001586 (R-2. 55-61), which motion was denied by memorandum decision, dated January 27, 1992 (R-1. 37). Subsequently, defendant filed a Motion to Reconsider the court's denial of defendant's Motion to Dismiss and presented additional grounds for challenging the constitutionality of West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104, the violation of which was the basis of the cruelty to animals charges filed against the defendant (R-1. 47). Argument pertaining to defendant's Motion for Reconsideration was presented to the court on March 30, 1992 (Tr. 1-17). Said motion together with counsel's request for time to brief the issues set forth therein was denied by the court on the record of the trial proceeding conducted March 30, 1992 (Tr. 13).

On March 30, 1992, the defendant waived his right to a trial on the merits and entered a conditional guilty plea to count one of the information filed in connection with Case No. 901001586, to wit, cruelty to animals, a violation of West Valley City

Ordinance 23-5-104 (Tr. 10, 13, 19, 20). The remaining five charges of cruelty to animals set forth in the information were dismissed (R-1. 66, 67). The defendant also entered a conditional guilty plea to count four of the information filed in connection with Case No. 901001677, to wit, cruelty to animals, a violation of West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104 (Tr. 11, 13, 19, 20). Defendant pled guilty to counts one, two and eight of the information, to wit, doing business without a license, improper use of R-1-8 zone for operating a poultry business in an improperly zoned area, and accumulation of solid waste and littering, respectively (R-2. 74, 75). All remaining charges filed in connection with Case No. 901001677 were dismissed (Tr. 11; R-2. 74, 75).

The defendant's reservation of right with regard to the conditional guilty pleas entered in both of the above-referenced cases, was put on the record at the sentencing proceeding and was incorporated into defendant's guilty plea affidavits (Tr. 10-15, 19, 20; R-1. 17-22, 49-54). On April 30, 1992, at the hour of 10:00 o'clock a.m., Judge William A. Thorne sentenced the defendant to sixty (60) days in jail and imposed a fine of \$1,000.00 (Tr. 73; R-2. 75). Said sentence was suspended pursuant to defendant meeting certain terms and conditions of said sentence, including the absence of further violations within a one year period, compliance with the terms of probation, and



compliance wit zoning ordinances (Tr. 73; R-2. 75). The defendant filed a Notice of Appeal May 29, 1992, in both Case No. 901001586 and Case No. 901001677 (R-1. 68, R-2. 76). The cases were consolidated by the Utah Court of Appeals under Case No. 920349-CA on June 23, 1992.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The appellant is a resident of West Valley City, residing at 3351 South 7200 West (R-2. 1). Appellant has operated a poultry business at said residence, raising game fowl which he utilizes for fighting outside of West Valley City and the State of Utah, including Arizona, where cockfighting is legal (R-1. 37; Tr. 21, ln.13; Tr. 20, ln.17). Appellant was charged with cruelty to animals, inter alia, when he was stopped by West Valley Police officers on May 29, 1992 in connection with a DUI stop (R-1. 37). Defendant was en route to West Valley City from Arizona, where he had engaged fowl in the activity of cockfighting. (Id.)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(a) is unconstitutional pursuant to Article XI, Section 5 of the Utah Constitution as it exceeds the regulatory and lawmaking authority endowed West Valley City by the State of Utah and is in conflict with general law. The police powers conferred upon West Valley City by the general welfare clause empower West Valley City to enact only those laws which are reasonably and substantially

related to improving the health, safety and morals of the West Valley City citizenry. The ordinance at issue is not substantially or reasonably related to the protection of the general welfare of West Valley City inhabitants. Accordingly, Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(a) is an improper and unconstitutional exercise of the police powers statutorily conferred upon West Valley City and cannot be upheld.

Revised West Valley City Ordinance violates both the Utah and United States Constitutions as it is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. The ordinance is void for vagueness as it fails to clearly define or set forth explicit standards such that a person of ordinary intelligence may have an opportunity to know what is prohibited by the ordinance. The ordinance is also void for overbreadth as it sweeps within its ambit legitimate activities occurring outside the boundaries of West Valley City or the State of Utah, and constitutes an extraterritorial criminal statute in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution as well as Article I, Section 7, and Article I, Section 1 of the Utah State Constitution.

The Ordinance violates the right to travel implicit in the United States and Utah Constitutions and unlawfully interferes with interstate commerce. The Revised West Valley City Ordinance effectively precludes breeders and husbandmen such as appellant from transporting game fowl to be used for fighting in

jurisdictions where the sport is legal. Moreover, the ordinance is preempted by federal law. The United States Congress enacted legislation specifically permitting the interstate shipment of game fowl for fighting ventures in States where such ventures are lawful. The ordinance directly conflicts with the objective of congress which chose to protect said activity and is therefore invalid under the supremacy clause.

Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8) unconstitutionally interferes with the right to own and possess property, in violation of Article I Section 1 of the Utah Constitution. Any restriction upon constitutionally protected property rights must be balanced against the alleged evil sought to be corrected and the limitation of constitutional rights imposed by the ordinance. In the instant case, the conduct proscribed has no effect whatsoever on the inhabitants of West Valley City because the fighting of fowl owned by Appellant occurs outside of the territorial limits of West Valley City. Therefore, the ordinance is unconstitutional pursuant to Article I, Section 1 of the Utah Constitution as it unjustifiably deprives defendant/appellant of constitutionally protected property rights.

#### ARGUMENT

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS MOTION TO DISMISS AND MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION AS REVISED WEST VALLEY CITY ORDINANCE 23-5-104 VIOLATES THE UNITED STATES AND UTAH CONSTITUTIONS.

A. REVISED WEST VALLEY CITY ORDINANCE 23-5-104(8) IS IN CONFLICT WITH GENERAL LAW AND IS THEREFORE CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID PURSUANT TO ARTICLE XI, SECTION 5 OF THE UTAH STATE CONSTITUTION.

The ordinance at issue herein is ostensibly adopted to promote the health, safety and morals of the inhabitants of West Valley City. Revised West Valley City Ordinance 23-5-104(8)(a) (hereinafter RWVCO 23-5-104(8)(a)) provides, in pertinent part:

CRUELTY TO ANIMALS PROHIBITED

Animals for fighting:

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person or corporation to raise, keep or use any animal, fowl or bird for the purpose of fighting or baiting;

The ordinance in question constitutes an improper exercise of the powers granted to West Valley City by the State of Utah and is constitutionally invalid as it conflicts with general law and is void as ultra vires.

As a chartered city, West Valley City is granted, inter alia, certain police powers by the State legislature to enact ordinances and regulations for the benefit of the municipality.<sup>2</sup> In addition to constitutionally conferred powers, enabling

---

<sup>2</sup> Article XI, Section 5 of the Utah State Constitution provides in pertinent part:

Each city forming its charter under this section shall have, and is hereby granted, the authority to adopt and enforce within its limits, local police, sanitary and similar regulations not in conflict with general law ... (emphasis added).

statutes such as the general welfare clause, provide municipal authority to enact ordinances, not repugnant to law, which are necessary to provide for the safety, health, morals and welfare of the city and its inhabitants.<sup>3</sup> The police powers of West Valley City are strictly limited to those expressly granted by state constitution or statute. Nance v. Mayflower Tavern, Inc., 150 P.2d 773 (1944); Salt Lake City v. Sutter, 216 P.234 (1923); 1 C Antieua, Municipal Corporation Law Section 5.01 (1967); 1 E McQuillin, Municipal Corporations Section 1.93 (3d Ed. 1949). A municipal ordinance which exceeds the authority conferred by statute is invalid as ultra vires and unconstitutional as in conflict with general law. See e.g., Ritholz v. City of Salt Lake, 284 P.2d 702 (1955); Gronlund v. Salt Lake City, 194 P.2d 464, 466 (1948); State v. Salt Lake City, 445 P.2d 691 (1968).

---

<sup>3</sup> §10-8-84, Utah Code Annotated (1992) as amended provides: Ordinances, Rules and regulations - Passage-Penalties

They may pass all ordinances and rules, and make all regulations, not repugnant to law, necessary for the carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter, and as are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health, and promote the prosperity, improve the morals, peace and good order, comfort and convenience of the city and its inhabitants, and for the protection of property in the city; and may enforce obedience to the ordinances with fines or penalties as they may deem proper, but the punishment of any offense shall be by fine not to exceed the maximum class B misdemeanor fine under Section 76-3-301 or by imprisonment not to exceed six months, or by both the fine and imprisonment.

While the police power conferred to West Valley City under the general welfare clause is broad in scope and its legitimate objects are broad and comprehensive, it is, nevertheless fundamental that the police power is limited to the promulgation and enforcement of measures reasonably related to a legitimate object for its exercise, including the public health, morals, comfort and safety of the municipalities inhabitants. McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, Section 24.09 (3rd Edition). Accordingly, the police power conferred upon West Valley City by the State of Utah is not an infinite and unlimited power. Id. See also, State v. Hutchison, 624 P.2d 1116, 1128 (Utah 1980) (Although the general welfare clause has been afforded liberal construction, it does not grant municipalities carte blanche nor limitless power to enact restrictive ordinances under the auspices of protecting the safety, health and welfare of its citizenry). Rather, only those ordinances which bear a substantial and reasonable relationship to the objects of protecting the general welfare may be upheld as a valid exercise of West Valley City's police power. State v. Hutchison, 624 P.2d 1116, 1126 (1980) (When the state has granted general welfare powers to local governments, those governments have independent authority to pass ordinances which are reasonably and appropriately related to the objectives of that power, i.e., providing for the public safety health, morals and welfare); Parker v. Provo City Corp., 543 P.2d 769 (1975) (Municipal

ordinances enacted to protect public health, safety, welfare and well-being must bear reasonable relation to purposes).

The issue in the instant case is thus reduced to the question of whether the challenged ordinance is substantially and reasonably related to the promotion of the prosperity and improvement of the health, safety and morals of the inhabitants of West Valley City. The circumstances of this case compel a negative answer; there is neither a substantial nor reasonable relationship between the alleged evil to be prevented (to raise, keep or use fowl or birds for the purpose of fighting or baiting) and the protection of the safety, health and morals of the citizens of West Valley City.

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