1992

West Valley City v. Dennis Streeter : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

IT IS WITHIN THE POWER OF WEST VALLEY CITY TO ENACT § 23-5-104(8) OF THE WEST VALLEY CITY MUNICIPAL CODE, WHICH PROHIBITS ANY PERSON FROM RAISING, KEEPING OR USING ANY FOWL OR BIRD FOR THE PURPOSE OF FIGHTING.

West Valley City is an incorporated city, established pursuant to the provisions of Title 10 of the Utah Code. It derives its police power with regard to the prevention of cockfighting and its supporting activities from both specific grants of power and the general welfare provisions of Title 10. Utah case law clearly establishes that the City's police power should be liberally construed and that municipalities have wide discretion in the exercise of their police power in the public interest. Courts will not interfere with the City legislative body's use of police power as long as its use is reasonably related to providing for the public safety, health, morals and welfare. In this case, the prohibition against raising, keeping or using birds or fowl for the purpose of fighting is a reasonable use of the City's police power to further the legislative policy against animal fighting ventures. Furthermore, the West Valley City ordinance is not an extraterritorial criminal statute, but, rather, only regulates activity within West Valley City.

Appellant Streeter's argument is based on the false premise that West Valley City is a chartered city, and the cases upon which he relies are outdated and have been overruled.

POINT II

SECTION 23-5-104(8) OF THE WEST VALLEY CITY MUNICIPAL CODE IS NOT VOID FOR VAGUENESS.

Section 23-5-104(8) of the West Valley City Municipal Code contains no uncertain or confusing terms, and is not vague on its face. Also, the ordinance is not vague in its application to Streeter. He has admitted committing the specific elements of the crime. Streeter lacks standing to raise questions of vagueness regarding hypothetical fact situations.

POINT III

SECTION 23-5-104(8) OF THE WEST VALLEY CITY MUNICIPAL CODE IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVER- BROAD.

Section 23-5-104(8) of the West Valley City Municipal Code is not over-broad, and does not impinge upon innocent conduct. The ordinance contains a clear mental element which requires that game birds be raised, kept or used "for the purpose of fighting." This mental element protects those who may innocently own game birds, but who have no intent that the birds fight. Also, Streeter has no standing to raise hypothetical challenges to the ordinance, and the ordinance is clearly not over-broad as it relates to the facts of his case.

POINT IV

SECTION 23-5-104(8) OF THE WEST VALLEY CITY MUNICIPAL CODE IS NOT PREEMPTED BY THE ANIMAL WELFARE ACT AMENDMENT OF 1976, 7 U.S.C. § 2156, NOR DOES IT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY RESTRICT THE RIGHT TO TRAVEL.

The Animal Welfare Act Amendment of 1976, 7 U.S.C. § 2156, has a specific section expressing Congress' intent to not preempt state law except in cases of direct and irreconcilable conflict with the federal statute. 7 U.S.C. § 2156(h). There is no direct and irreconcilable conflict between the federal statute and the West Valley City ordinance. To the contrary, the West Valley City ordinance is compatible with the federal statute. The federal statute and the ordinance compliment each other and further the common legislative policy of restricting or prohibiting animal fighting.

Also, the ordinance does not restrict interstate travel. It is a reasonable exercise of police power and is not in conflict with the Fourteenth Amendment of the United State Constitution.

POINT V

SECTION 23-5-104(8) OF THE WEST VALLEY CITY MUNICIPAL CODE IS A REASONABLE USE OF THE CITY'S POLICE POWER FOR THE PUBLIC WELFARE, AND DOES NOT VIOLATE ARTICLE I, § 1 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

Section 23-5-104(8) of the West Valley City Municipal Code is a reasonable exercise of the City's police power, and furthers the legislative purpose of preventing cockfighting. In reasonable exercises of the City's police power, the City may prohibit or restrict an individual's right to possess or use property.

Constitutional provisions, such as Article I, § 1 of the Utah Constitution, which relate to the rights of individuals to acquire or possess property, must be construed and applied in light of the police power of the City as expressed by its legislative body.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IT IS WITHIN THE POWER OF WEST VALLEY CITY TO ENACT § 23-5-104(8) OF THE WEST VALLEY CITY MUNICIPAL CODE, WHICH PROHIBITS ANY PERSON FROM RAISING, KEEPING OR USING ANY FOWL OR BIRD FOR THE PURPOSE OF FIGHTING.

It is clearly within the authority of the West Valley City Council, as legislative body for West Valley City, to enact an ordinance which makes it unlawful for any person to raise, keep or use any bird or fowl for the purpose of fighting. Streeter's argument that the City has exceeded its authority is premised on the incorrect notion that West Valley City is a chartered city subject to the language of Article XI, § 5 of the Utah Constitution. This premise is plainly incorrect, since West Valley City is not a chartered city. (See Addendum A, Articles of Incorporation of West Valley City.)

West Valley City is an incorporated city created pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 10-2-101, et seq. It derives its authority from the provisions of Title 10 of the Utah Code, which apply to all municipalities except those subject to the home rule (charter cities) provisions of Article XI, § 5 of the Utah Constitution. Utah Code Ann. § 10-1-106. The City has adopted the council-manager form of government allowed under the "Optional

Forms of Municipal Government Act," Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1201, et seq. This alternative form of government retains all the rights, powers and duties granted to other municipalities of the same class. Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1205. In West Valley City's form of government, it is the City Council which performs the legislative function and has the responsibility for passing City ordinances. Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1210. The City Council's authority to enact § 23-5-104(8) of the West Valley City Municipal Code, making it unlawful to raise, keep or use birds or fowl for the purpose of fighting, is based both upon specific grants of power and a general grant of power contained in Title 10 of the Utah Code.

First, in Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-47, the Legislature specifically grants cities the authority to prevent cockfights. This section provides no restrictions or limits on the manner in which cockfights are to be prevented. Clearly, the manner in which cockfights are prevented is left to the discretion of the city.

The second specific grant of authority is contained in Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-59, which grants cities the authority to prohibit cruelty to animals. Again, it is clearly left to the discretion of the cities how they wish to implement such a prohibition.

Finally, Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-84 provides that a city:

. . . may pass all ordinances and rules, an [and] make all regulations, not repugnant to law, necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter, and as are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health, and promote the prosperity, improve the morals, peace and good order, comfort, and convenience of the city and its inhabitants,

and for the protection of property in the city . . .

This general grant of authority, often referred to as a "general welfare" clause, grants West Valley City the authority to enact such ordinances as it feels are necessary for the good of its citizens. This general welfare clause provides the City with a basis for the use of its police power in the best interests of its citizens.

Ordinances which are enacted pursuant to a city's police power are presumed to be valid. *Redwood Gym v. Salt Lake County Commission*, 624 P.2d 1138, 1143 (Utah 1981). General welfare clauses, in particular, should be liberally construed so that a municipality has wide discretion in the exercise of its police power. *State v. Hutchinson*, 624 P.2d 1116 (Utah 1980).

Streeter misleads the court on the current state of Utah law when he states, "The police powers of West Valley City are strictly limited to those expressly granted by state constitution or statute." (Appellant's Brief, p. 13.) As authority for that proposition, he cites *Nance v. Mayflower Tavern, Inc.*, 150 P.2d 773 (Utah 1944) and *Salt Lake City v. Sutter*, 216 P. 234 (Utah 1923). (Appellant's Brief, p. 13.) These two cases relied on what was known as the "Dillon Rule." The Dillon Rule, which was a very restrictive view of the powers of cities, was repudiated by the Utah Supreme Court in the 1980 *Hutchinson* decision cited above. The *Hutchinson* court stated that, "The Dillon Rule of strict construction is antithetical to effective and efficient local and state government." *Hutchinson*, 624 P.2d, at 1126. The court also

wrote, "For the reasons stated herein, we expressly abandon the rule of strict construction of municipal and county powers insofar as it has heretofore had a basis in Utah law. *Hutchinson*, 624 P.2d, at 1119 (footnote 3). The cases that Streeter relies upon in his argument are virtually all pre-*Hutchinson* "Dillon Rule" cases. In fact, many cases that Streeter cites, i.e., *Nance*; *Sutter*; *Parker v. Provo City Corp.*, 543 P.2d 796 (Utah 1975); *Stevenson v. Salt Lake City*, 317 P.2d 597 (Utah 1957); and *American Fork City v. Robinson*, 292 P. 249 (Utah 1930), are all cited in *Hutchinson* as examples of the use of the now defunct "Dillon Rule."

The *Hutchinson* decision provides the current Utah law with respect to the police power of local governments. In determining that general welfare grants of authority should be liberally construed, the court stated:

When the state has granted general welfare power to local governments, those governments have independent authority apart from, and in addition to, specific grants of authority to pass ordinances which are reasonably and appropriately related to the objectives of that power, i.e., providing for the public safety, health, morals and welfare. [citation omitted] And the courts will not interfere with the legislative choice of the means selected unless it is arbitrary, or is directly prohibited by, or is inconsistent with the policy of, the state or federal laws or the constitution of this state or of the United States.

Hutchinson, 624 P.2d, at 1126. With regard to specific grants of authority, the court stated that, "Specific grants should generally be construed with reasonable latitude in light of the broad language of the general welfare clause which may supplement the

power found in a specific delegation." *Hutchinson*, 624 P.2d, at 1126.

As stated in the above quotation from the *Hutchinson* case, courts will not interfere with the legislative body's use of police power unless it is arbitrary or prohibited by or inconsistent with law or the State or Federal Constitution. Whether or not it is inconsistent with federal law or the Utah Constitution is discussed elsewhere in this Brief. Streeter has advanced no argument or authority which indicates that it is prohibited by or inconsistent with State statutes. Therefore, the question is whether or not the statute enacted by the West Valley City Council, § 23-5-104(8), is arbitrary.

The section at issue is clearly not arbitrary, and, as *Hutchinson* requires, it is reasonably related to providing for the public safety, health, morals and welfare. *Hutchinson*, 624 P.2d, at 1126. The ordinance specifically relates to and furthers the goal of the City to prevent cockfights. Since the City has a specific grant of power to prevent cockfights (Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-47), it naturally follows that it is within the City's power to prohibit activities which support cockfighting or facilitate cockfighting. This is a logical and reasonable way for the City to further its legislative purpose of preventing cockfighting. It is certainly not an unusual use of police power. For example, while in pursuit of the legislative purpose of prohibiting the use of illegal drugs, it is also clearly within the government's power to prohibit activities which support or facilitate drug use.

Therefore, statutes have been enacted which prohibit the possession of drugs or the possession of drug paraphernalia, regardless of actual use.

Suppression of closely related activities and the necessary instruments of cockfighting clearly bears a reasonable relationship to preventing the undesired conduct. The Supreme Court of Illinois addressed this question in the case of *Illinois Gamefowl Breeders Association v. Block*, 389 N.E.2d 529 (Ill. 1979). In that case, the court stated that:

We believe the prohibitions contained in subsections (a) and (c), e.g., owning, breeding, training, selling or transporting, are reasonably related to the proper governmental purpose of eliminating the evils associated with animal fighting. Clearly, the legislature intended to strengthen the ban on animal fighting by making it illegal to knowingly engage in the supporting activities which make animal fighting possible, and the prohibitions contained in subsections (a) and (c) were intended to insure that those who wish to stage such exhibitions will not be able to procure the needed animals from local breeders.

Illinois Gamefowl Breeders Association, 389 N.E.2d, at 533. Section 23-5-104(8) of the West Valley City Municipal Code is similarly related to the valid legislative purpose of prohibiting cockfighting and the evils associated therewith.

Streeter's argument hinges entirely on the idea that West Valley City citizens can only be harmed by cockfighting if they witness it; therefore, the only reasonable regulations are those prohibiting the actual fighting. (Appellant's Brief, p. 15; also footnote 4.) This argument has no merit whatsoever. If taken to

its logical conclusion, the absurd result would be a local government's police power being restricted to controlling public events. The City could not criminalize cockfighting which took place privately and which was not "witnessed" by the public. Presumably, this would also apply to other non-publicly witnessed conduct, such as private, illegal drug use.

Streeter makes the additional argument that the West Valley City ordinance is unconstitutional as being an extraterritorial criminal statute, since cockfighting is legal in a few states. It is obvious that West Valley City cannot legislate beyond its boundaries. However, Streeter's argument is based on the supposition that it is legal to possess property in West Valley City which may be illegal to use in West Valley City, so long as there is some place where it may be lawfully used. It is not surprising that Streeter cites no authority to support this proposition, since the adoption of this argument would render many laws and ordinances unconstitutional, not just § 23-5-104(8). For example, Utah law prohibits the possession of marijuana (Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8), but some states allow the possession of a small amount of marijuana. Just because the possession of a limited amount of marijuana may be legal elsewhere, Utah is not barred from prohibiting its possession within Utah boundaries. Another example are the provisions of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, which prohibit the possession of beer by the general public in containers larger than two liters. Utah Code Ann. § 32A-12-206. This statute effectively eliminated the general public's use of beer in kegs

within Utah. Obviously, most states in the United States, including Utah's surrounding states, allow beer kegs. Under Streeter's rationale, Utah would be allowed to prohibit the drinking of beer from kegs, but not allowed to prohibit the possession of a keg if the keg is to be used in a state where kegs are legal.

The unsound basis of this argument is apparent. In reality, Streeter is urging the extraterritorial application of Arizona law to West Valley City. The fact that cockfighting may be legal in Arizona has absolutely no effect outside the boundaries of Arizona, and does not impair West Valley City's ability to prescribe certain conduct within the boundaries of West Valley City.

It is clear that the enactment of § 23-5-104(8) by West Valley City is a valid exercise of the police power granted to the City by Title 10 of the Utah Code. Streeter's argument is based on an incorrect premise and outdated case law, and should be disregarded.

POINT II

SECTION 23-5-104(8) OF THE WEST VALLEY CITY MUNICIPAL CODE IS NOT VOID FOR VAGUENESS.

The void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a statute or ordinance define an "offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement."

Greenwood v. City of North Salt Lake, 817 P.2d 816 (Utah 1991), quoting *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 S. Ct. 1855, 1858, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983). In a vagueness challenge that does not involve constitutionally protected conduct, the court should

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